FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/6/2023 4:52 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Case No. 102322-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals Division I, Case No. 83114-3

KEITH WELCH

Defendant/Appellant,

v.

CHRIS WALDEN

Plaintiff/Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Keith Welch, Defendant/Appellant PO Box 1548 Mukilteo, WA 98275 Telephone: (425) 439-8135

Email: kpwjr@worldnet.att.net

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Keith Welch, *pro se*, a Defendant in the trial court, and an Appellant at the Court of Appeals, Division I, asks this Court to accept review of the Unpublished Opinion designated in Part II below.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Appellant and Co-Defendant, Keith Welch, hereinafter ("Welch"), petitions this Court to review the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division I, in the matter of *Chris Walden v. Keith Welch, Brandon Welch, et al.*, No. 83114-3-I, filed on July 31, 2023, which affirmed the Skagit County Superior Court's Order, pursuant to RCW 59.12. A copy of the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division I, is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether this Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) where the Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division I, is predicated upon a version of the facts that is its own creation based upon its assumptions and/or unsupported conclusions, that are in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals?

Whether this Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) where the Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division I, is entirely unsupported by Washington statutes and case law, and includes citation to a statute that does not apply to this case?

Whether this Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) where the Court of Appeals, Division I, is in statutory conflict with a although unpublished decision, that may have nonbinding authority, if identified as such, may accord such precedent or persuasive statutory value as the court deems appropriate, pursuant to GR 14.1?

Whether this Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) where the Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division I, is in conflict with a decision of this Court and involves an issue of substantial public interest?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals, Division I, hereinafter ("Court of Appeals") Opinion, never responds or denies the existence or the validity of Welch's Statute of Frauds and Part Performance legal issues, which Welch had raised *pro se*, in his trial court pleadings, and Opening Brief. The Court of Appeals, failure to refute these legal issues should be treated as an admission of material fact that precluded judgment.

The Court of Appeals, Opinion, did not rely upon any statute or case law that supports its conclusions as to the alleged proper service against the parties of interest, Keith Welch, and Brandon Welch, hereinafter ("Keith, and Brandon Welch"). The Court of Appeals, completely ignored significant evidence that expressly contradicts statutory service of process of Chris Walden's, hereinafter ("Walden") *Second* "Amended" Summons and Complaint. Walden's assertions that Keith, and Brandon Welch were

properly served pursuant to RCW 59.12, makes it clear that there is still a genuine issues of material fact that precluded judgment.

The Court of Appeals, predicated its Opinion, entirely upon an erroneous determination that there was competent and uncontroverted "evidence" that Walden's attorney properly served all parties of interest, Keith, and Brandon Welch, a copy of Walden's <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons, and Complaint, for unlawful detainer under RCW 61.24.060(1), rather than under a landlord-tenant agreement.

The contents of contradictory evidence that the Court of Appeals, relied exclusively upon was the conclusory "open court" testimony of Walden's attorney, Mr. Trickler, while at the same time, ignoring the actual facts of Welch's "open court" testimony.

The Court of Appeals, found Walden's attorney Mr. Trickler's testimony sufficient to create an issue of fact, despite it lacking any foundation and being based on speculation. *Id.* RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The Court of Appeals, reach all of its conclusions to deny Welch relief, in direct contravention of Washington law. This in, and of itself, creates a question of fact, sufficient for review.

Welch respectfully disagree with the Court of Appeals, Opinion, with regard to these issues, as they are in conflict with other Opinions, with the Court of Appeals, and this Court. This Court should accept review to correct these conflicting error of law issues. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

V. ARGUMENT

A. Walden's <u>Original</u> Complaint, Asserted that He, Keith Welch, and Brandon Welch, had a Residential Rental Agreement, and that Keith Welch and Brandon Welch, Failed to Pay Rent.

This case evolved from an acquisition arrangement between acquaintances *Chris Walden*, and the original owners, *Keith Welch*, and *Brandon Welch*. This case was never about a rental breach, or an acquisition based on a previous foreclosure. Nevertheless, the acquisition arrangement, went from good to bad, right after Walden purportedly obtained title, and then immediately move to file a fabricated rental breach suit, then to honor the previous arrangement set forth.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals, found that Walden's fabricated rental breach suit, against Keith and Brandon Welch, for failing to pay rent, was "erroneously" asserted by Walden. In other words, the Court of Appeals assertion was that Walden just made a simple mistake, or that Walden's rental breach suit was just an accident when Walden fraudulent filed the wrong information. This opinion, of course, is factually incorrect, and entirely unsupported, and a complete misrepresentation of the facts presented to the trial court.

Excerpts of Walden's "<u>Original</u>" Complaint for Unlawful Detainer, dated April 23, 2021, against <u>both</u> Keith Welch, and Brandon Welch.

COMES NOW the Plaintiff, by and through the Law Office of Rob W. Trickler PLLC, and for cause of action alleges as follows:

I.

Christopher Walden, as landlord, <u>rented to</u> Keith Welch and Brandon Welch the premises located at 857 Tinas Coma Lane, Burlington, Skagit County, Washington.

П.

<u>Keith Welch and Brandon Welch</u> are in <u>possession</u> of the subject premises.

III.

Plaintiff and Defendants entered into a residential rental agreement for said <u>Defendants</u> occupancy of the premises. The rental agreement obligates the <u>Defendants</u> to pay monthly rent payable in advance, and to additional terms detailed below.

IV.

The <u>Defendants</u> are in arrears for rent for March 2021. Rent shall continue to accrue in accordance with the rental agreement/lease during the pendency of this case. <u>See</u> CP 3, 4.

Excerpts of Walden's **Second** "Amended" Complaint for Unlawful

Detainer, dated July 8, 2021, against **both** Keith Welch, and Brandon Welch.

COMES NOW the Plaintiff, by and through the Law Office of Rob W. Trickler PLLC, and for cause of action alleges as follows:

I.

Christopher Walden, is the owner of the premises located at 857 Tinas Coma Lane, Burlington, Skagit County, Washington by virtue of a special warranty deed executed November 2020 (See attached exhibit A incorporated as part of this complaint).

II.

<u>Keith Welch and Brandon Welch are the "prior owners"</u> of the situs and are in possession of the subject premises

III.

<u>Plaintiff and Defendants "never" entered into any</u> residential agreement.

IV.

This unlawful detainer is the appropriate action to obtain a writ of restitution in a post foreclosure sale pursuant to RCW 61.24.060(1) (see exhibit B) which provides in part that the new owner shall use the summary proceeding provided for

in chapter 59.12 as against the prior owners or occupants after at least 20 days. *See* CP 93, 94.

The Court of Appeals, erred in finding that Walden statutorily serve Keith <u>and</u> Brandon Welch, (the "<u>Defendants</u>") <u>separately</u>, a copy of his <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint.

The Court of Appeals, erred in finding that on June 9, 2021, *just*Keith Welch, appeared *pro se*, but in actuality "<u>both</u>" Keith and Brandon
Welch, appeared *pro se*, and had answered to Walden's "abandoned"
fabricated RCW 59.18 rental breach, <u>Original</u> Summons and Complaint,
adamantly denying the existence of a rental agreement.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals, choice to ignore the *actual* undisputed facts, to what Mr. Welch stated at the trial court hearing on July 30, 2021, (also, the Court of Appeals, ignored these undisputed facts in Mr. Welch's trial court pleadings), as follows:

MR. WELCH: Nevertheless, Your Honor, also too, both my son, Brandon, and I, have never been served with this particular amended suit nor did David -- Mr. Day and I have an arrangement. Neither Brandon nor I would have him accept service. And he knew I was kind of working side by – you know, he chimed in helping me because Tom took off -- was -- who would have been here instead. But he's – he's up climbing a mountain right now for the -- another week, unavailable. So, David graciously chimed in to help. But, you know, I'd already been involved in this before David got involved.

07-30-2021, Verbatim Report of Proceedings, pp. 11:15-25; pp. 12:1-4.

The Court of Appeals, chose to believe the words of Walden's attorney and ignore the *actual* undisputed facts.

With regard to Court of Appeals assertion that Mr. Day, "<u>did not</u> <u>respond</u>," was due impart to the fact, that he knew his Limited "Notice of Appearance," was clear and <u>specific</u>, with regard to "<u>who</u>" he was representing, and the date of the representation, which was at the time, the July 9, 2021, "abandoned" RCW 59.18 rental breach case.

Excerpts of Mr. Day's , July 8, 2021, Limited Notice of Appearance, as follows:

"Counsel's appearance in this matter shall be limited in scope to responding to "<u>the</u>" Motion for Order to Show Cause and appearing for "<u>Keith Welch</u>" at the hearing "<u>noted</u>" for Hearing on Show Cause . . .

Counsel's representation of "<u>Keith Welch</u>" shall terminate at the conclusion of the hearing on the proceedings for eviction and related possession.

This Notice of Appearance does <u>not</u> authorize the undersigned attorney to "<u>accept service</u>" of any other pleading in this matter, except those related to the Motion for Order to Show Cause.

Nothing in Mr. Days' notice stated that he had the authority to personally accept "service of process" of Walden's <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint, for "<u>both</u>" Keith and Brandon Welch. In fact, Mr. Day never agreed to accept service of any kind, because he knew he was without statutory authority under Chapter 59.12 RCW to waive personal service upon Keith and Brandon Welch, via a fax or email, the copy of Walden's <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint.

All Mr. Day, agreed to, on July 9, 2021, at the cancelled Show Cause hearing, was, to *informally* agree to Walden's *Second* "Amended" Summons and Complaint, *not* to *formally* accept "service of process" for Keith or Brandon Welch, as follows:

Excerpt of Mr. Day, at the July 9, 2021, cancelled Show Cause hearing, as follows:

MR. DAY: -- "Also for the record, Mr. Trickler, wanted to do some amendments and so forth, and I am agreeing on the record to the amendment of the pleadings. <u>See</u> 07-09-2021, *Verbatim Report of Proceedings*.

The Court of Appeals, Opinion, misrepresented the facts, with regard to Walden's attorney testimony in open court, declaring that he and Mr. Day had a purported "verbal agreement" that [Day] would accept service of the Amended Complaint" and that Day would "take those by fax . . . or e[-]mail."

Additionally, Walden's attorney testified in open court that he was apparently unaware that RCW 59.12's service statute required *personal* service upon *all* parties to Walden's action, as follows:

MR. TRICKLER: -- Counsel. So, if I -- I don't even – you know, I don't know of any precedent that would require me, when there's a notice of appearance by an attorney, to also send everything to the -- to the "<u>defendant</u>," Your Honor.

07-30-2021, Verbatim Report of Proceedings, pp. 13:10-13.

For the record, Walden's attorney's open court testimony only references "one" defendant.

The Court of Appeal, Opinion of Walden's attorney's testimony, with regard to the purported "<u>verbal agreement</u>" with Mr. Day, is speculative, non-statutory, and lacking any foundation or evidence, therefore, not admissible.

Because Walden's attorney's testimony, is entirely unsupported, and a complete misrepresentation of the facts presented to the trial court, it should have been stricken by the Court of Appeal.

Furthermore, with regard to precedent, Walden's attorney was required under the statute to personally serve <u>all</u> parties to his suit, a copy of Walden's <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint, to effectuate service.

Pursuant to RCW 59.12.040, Walden was required to deliver a <u>separate</u> copy of his <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint, to <u>both</u> Keith and Brandon Welch. And since Walden's attorney only delivered "<u>one</u>" copy of Walden's <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint, to an unauthorized attorney, Mr. Day, and since Walden's attorney declares that he didn't need to personally serve the "defendant," *i.e.*, Keith or Brandon Welch, the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the case.

Walden has yet to explain to <u>any</u> court why he didn't have to, comply with RCW 59.12.040(1), and <u>personally</u> serve <u>all</u> named parties to Walden's <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint. <u>See</u> Scanlan v. Townsend, 181 Wn.2d 838, 847, 336 P.3d 1155 (2014).

Because the statute must be strictly construed in favor of the person intitled to, this Court must construe the statute in favor of Keith and Brandon Welch and hold that because neither Keith or Brandon Welch were statutorily served a copy of Walden's <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint, it did not comply with RCW 59.12.040(1). Specifically, Walden did not "deliv[er] a copy <u>personally</u> to the person or person(s) entitled thereto," both Keith, and the Co-Claimant and named Defendant, Brandon. <u>See Culpeper v. Jordan</u>, 151 Wash. App. 1026 (Wash. Ct. App. 2009); Homeowners Solutions, LLC v. Nguyen, 148 Wn. App. 545, (2009); Laffranchi v. Lim, 146 Wn. App. 376, 383, 190 P.3d 97 (2008); Christensen v. Ellsworth, 162 Wn.2d 365, 372, 173 P.3d 228 (2007); Housing Authority of the City of Everett v. Terry, 114 Wn. 2d 558, 789 P. 2d 445 (1990).

The Court of Appeals, erred in finding Walden's attorney's testimony sufficient to create an issue of fact, and is entirely unsupported by Washington statutes and case law, and includes citation to a statute that does not apply to this case. This Court should accept review to correct these conflicting error of law issues. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

B. Walden's <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint Took the Place of the Original "Abandoned" Complaint, Thereby, Statutorily Requiring <u>Personal</u> Service of Process of Walden's New Complaint.

On July 8, 2021, Mr. day's first day on the job, although limited, was also on the date that Walden "abandoned" his Original Complaint, *void ab initio*, and filed his *Second* "Amended" Summons and Complaint to become

the *Original* Complaint.

Under RCW 59.12, this legally required Walden to statutorily *Personal* serve Keith and Brandon Welch a *copy* of his *Second* "Amended" Summons and Complaint. *See* also CR 15.

Additionally, pursuant to CR 15, Walden was statutorily required to either obtain from the trial court leave to amend or obtain in writing from Keith and Brandon Welch's approval to amend, or waive service of process, of Walden's *Second* "Amended" Summons and Complaint.

Additionally, an attorney may <u>not</u>, surrender a substantial right of a client without special authority granted by the client. <u>See Graves v. P.J. Taggares Co.</u>, 94 Wn.2d 298, 303, 616 P.2d 1223 (1980). An attorney needs the client's express authority to accept service of process. To exercise such a power would be to act rather as an agent, or attorney in fact, than as an attorney of the court, and to give effect to it, therefore, there must needs be a special authority for it." <u>See Ashcraft v. Powers</u>, 22 Wash. 440, 443, 61 P. 161 (1900).

Nevertheless, pursuant to the statutory service criteria under the unlawful detainer statute, Chapter 59.12 RCW, Mr. Day never had the statutory authority to accept service of Walden's new Summons and Complaint, on behalf of Keith or Brandon Welch.

The Court of Appeals, Opinion, erred concerning this specific improper service of process issue. Therefore, this Court should accept

review to correct this conflicting error of law issue. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. Improper Service of Walden's <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint on Opposing Counsel.

The Court of Appeals, Opinion, erred in asserting that: "<u>Day had authority to accept service of the amended complaint on Welch's behalf.</u>"

This assertion is entirely unsupported by anything more than its assumptions. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals, Opinion, pertaining to this issue does not meet the statutory service criteria under the unlawful detainer statute, Chapter 59.12 RCW. The Court of Appeals, <u>simply</u> stated that: "<u>A party must serve an opposing party with "every pleading subsequent to the original complaint." CR 5(a), and that "this rule applies to amended complaints." <u>See Will v. Frontier Contractors, Inc.</u>, 121 Wn. App. 119, 126, 89 P.3d 242 (2004).</u>

Nevertheless, the aforementioned case cited by the Court of Appeals, *Will v. Frontier Contractors, Inc.*, (2004), as controlling, is in actuality contradictory.

D. Will v. Frontier Contractors, Inc., (2004).

CR 15(a) states: "a party must "<u>effect</u>" service on the "<u>other</u>" party for "<u>every</u> pleading subsequent to the original complaint." CR 5(a). Amended complaints are pleadings within this rule. <u>See Sutton v. Hirvonen</u>, 113 Wash.2d 1, 6-7, 775 P.2d 448 (1989).

Will knew he was statutorily required to file a motion with the trial court to "leave to amend" his original complaint.

Excerpts from Walden's attorney, to Mr. Day, requesting a continuance until July 23, 2021, along with asking the trial court for "Leave to Amend" his Amended RCW 59.12 Complaint, as follows:

From: Rob Trickler [mailto:rob@tricklerlaw.com]

Sent: Friday, July 09, 2021, 7:13 AM
To: David Day david@fairhavenlegal.com

Cc: Reception

Subject: Re: Walden v Welch

I'm just getting this as I was out of the office for a house fire unfortunately. Next Friday does not work for me and I would prefer the 23rd if that works for you. I have responses to a discovery request that I intended to deliver today as they are due tomorrow I believe or thus Monday. Do you want those and if so can I email them? Also, I intend to ask the court for leave to amend the complaint to reflect its post foreclosure not tenancy...

Rob W Trickler

It is noteworthy that Walden's attorney denied this fact in open court at the July 30, 2021, hearing. <u>See</u> 07-30-2021, Verbatim Report of Proceedings, pp. 12:18-21.

In our case, Walden's attorney knew, that after he received Keith Welch and Brandon Welch's, response, to Walden's <u>Original</u> Summons and Complaint, he was statutorily required to file a CR 15(a) motion with the trial court, asking the court to "leave to amend," or request in "<u>writing</u>" from both Keith Welch and Brandon Welch, as named parties to the case, permission to amend. Because the trial court was without authority to rule without the filing of a CR 15(a) motion first, the Court of Appeals, erred in its Opinion, and should therefore, be reviewed. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

E. The Court of Appeals Asserted that Walden's Attorney E-mailed a Copy of Walden's **Second** "Amended" Summons and Complaint to Mr. Day on July 9, 2021.

The Court of Appeals will have you believe that Walden emailed or faxed a copy of his **Second** "Amended" Summons and Complaint to Mr. Day, was on July 9, 2021. The facts, are that Mr. Day, didn't receive an emailed copy of Walden's **Second** "Amended" Summons and Complaint until July 13, 2021.

Excerpts below are communication between Keith Welch and Mr. day, with regard to the "date" Walden's attorney sent via email or fax a copy of the <u>Second</u> Amended Summons and Complaint, on July 13, 2021; as follows:

From: kpwjr@att.net

To: david@fairhavenlegal.com

Date: Tuesday, July 13, 2021, at 11:44 AM PDT

David,

Have you received anything from Walden's counsel.

Take care,

Keith

(206)751-9927

From: david@fairhavenlegal.com

To: kpwjr@att.net

Date: Tuesday, July 13, 2021, at 01:56 PM PDT

I had an email this morning promising discovery and

amendments to the complaint.

David L. Day Attorney at Law 1023 S 3rd Mount Vernon, WA 98273

360-755-0611

From: david@fairhavenlegal.com

To: kpwjr@att.net

Date: Tuesday, July 13, 2021, at 02:13 PM PDT

Here's what I have so far. Will be able to discuss with

you late morning tomorrow.

David L. Day Attorney at Law 1023 S 3rd Mount Vernon, WA 98273 360-755-0611

It is also noteworthy, neither Keith nor Brandon Welch, have <u>yet</u> to be statutorily served a copy of Walden's July 8, 2021, <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint, pursuant to RCW 59.12.

Walden's attorney sent *via* fax or email a copy of Walden's <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint, without the parties to the case agreeing.

In the conflicting case cited by the Court of Appeals, *Will v. Frontier Contractors, Inc.*, (2004), *Will* did <u>not</u> serve *Frontier*, but on December 26, 2002, <u>faxed</u> a copy of the same proposed complaint that he had served on *Frontier* on May 15, 2002. But, unless the parties agree in <u>writing</u> to the service of process, by fax or electronic mail, it does not comply with <u>CR 5</u>. <u>See Wallace v. Kuehner</u>, 111 Wash.App. 809, 823-24, 46 P.3d 823 (2002); See Inman v. Netteland, 95 Wash.App. 83, 89, 974P.2d 365 (1999).

Under the statutory service requirement pursuant to CR 5, both courts in the aforementioned cases held that, absent the parties' <u>written</u> stipulation agreeing to service of documents *via* fax, or electronic mail service is ineffective.

Furthermore, what constitutes service as required, and as further defined in CR 5(b), *via* a fax or email, is having had a *written* agreement.

Walden never presented <u>any</u> evidence that the parties or Mr. Day, agreed to sign a "service agreement," nor is there evidence of such a stipulation in the record that the parties or Mr. Day, executed an acceptance of service agreement before Walden's attorney, sent Mr. Day, a copy on July 13, 2021, of Walden's <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint, *via* a fax or email, as an effective method of service on Keith and Brandon Welch.

Therefore, concluding that Walden's <u>Second</u> "Amended" Summons and Complaint, did not satisfy the service requirements, therefore, Walden's service was ineffective.

F. Sutey v. T26 Corp, (2020).

With regard to the Court of Appeals, citing, *Sutey v. T26 Corp.*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 737, 749, 466 P.3d 1096 (2020), as controlling.

In this case, as in the other case cited by the Court of Appeals, the *Suteys also* moved for leave to amend their complaint. They explained, "Plaintiffs are required under CR 15(a) to obtain leave of court in order to file a second amended complaint." Eventually, *Suteys'* received *Bergin's* attorney Goetz, filed notice of appearance, but not before *Bergin* was personally served with a copy of the *Suteys'* amended complaint, and original summons and complaint, at the Ashworth address.

Based on the conflicting aforementioned case, cited by the Court of Appeals, as controlling, Walden was required under CR 15(a) to obtain leave of court.

Because the Court of Appeals, erred in not dismissing Walden's case, this Court should accept review to correct this error of law. RAP 13.4(b).

G. Hav. Signal Elec., Inc. (2014)

With regard to the Court of Appeals, citing, *Ha v. Signal Elec., Inc.,* 182 Wn. App. 436, 447, 332 P.3d 991 (2014), as controlling.

In this case *Ha* sought and received written permission to proceed. Similar to a CR15 motion, *Ha*, filed a motion with the bankruptcy court seeking relief from the stay. The court granted *Ha's* motion and allowed her to proceed against *Signal Electric*. The court specified that "the stay is not lifted regarding collection or enforcement of judgment from *Signal Electric's* assets, except as to the proceeds of any applicable insurance policy that might satisfy a portion of Ms. *Ha's* claims, and any distribution made on Ms. *Ha's* claims in this bankruptcy." After obtaining relief from the bankruptcy stay, *Ha* asked *Tracy* if he would accept service of process on *Signal Electric's* behalf. The attorney agreed and executed an acceptance of service. On July 11, 2012, *Signal Electric's* bankruptcy attorney *Tracy*, executed an acceptance of service prepared by *Ha's* counsel. In it, *Tracy* claimed to be an attorney representing *Signal Electric*, in the personal injury lawsuit. *Tracy* verified that "I have the "authority" to accept and/or

waive service of process on its behalf." Tracy further agreed" "that delivery of the Summons and the Complaint to Ha constitutes proper service of process, and that service of process upon Signal Electric was completed on July 11, 2012." Tracy later explained, however, that he "did not intend to be signing as counsel for the Defendant, Signal Electric, Inc., as Crocker Law Group PLLC is a firm that specializes in bankruptcy law, and not personal injury or construction matters."

Nevertheless, *Ha* effected proper service of process on *Signal Electric* when *Tracy* formally accepted "in writing," *Ha's* summons, and complaint.

With regard to the facts in the Walden suit, on June 9, 2021, Keith, and Brandon Welch, appeared exclusively *pro se*, in the *Chris Walden* v. *Keith Welch, Brandon Welch, et al.*, RCW 59.18, purported rental breach case.

On the morning of July 7, 2021, Welch contacted his attorney, Thomas Seguine, for consultation and advice, for the upcoming July 9, 2021, (RCW 59.18, purported rental breach) "Show Cause hearing," Mr. Seguine was able to assist but was unable to appear (out of town) for the hearing," but instead arranged for a colleague Mr. Day, to assist Welch with the hearing.

On the morning of July 8, 2021, Welch was contacted by Mr. Day, stating that he could assist Welch with the upcoming July 9, 2021, RCW

59.18, purported rental breach "Show Cause hearing."

On July 8, 2021, Welch met Mr. Day, for approximately 30 minutes, to discuss the case matter, in which Welch disputed the existence of the purported rental breach suit.

Later that morning Mr. Day, filed with the trial court a "Limited Notice of Appearance," designed exclusively for just the July 9, 2021, show cause hearing. Mr. days' notice was limited *specifically* to that hearing only.

Unlike in the *Ha v. Signal Elec., Inc.* (2014), case, Mr. Day <u>never</u> executed an "acceptance of service" prepared by Walden's attorney. Nor had he <u>ever</u> claimed to be an attorney representing <u>both</u> Keith and Brandon Welch, in this lawsuit.

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