FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/29/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/28/2023 3:07 PM

Case No. 102322-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals Division I, Case No. 83114-3

KEITH WELCH

Defendant/Appellant

V.

CHRIS WALDEN

Plaintiff/Respondent

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Rob Trickler, Attorney for Plaintiff/Walden 2302 Rucker Avenue Suite #4
Everett WA 98201

Telephone: (425) 303-8000 Email: rob@tricklerlaw.com

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

ARGUMENT

Appellant's arguments, while divided into thirteen separate statements, revolve around a few basic claims. First, a number of the claims of error seem to argue that Brandon Welch was not properly served with both the amended summons and complaint and various orders to show cause but the argument fails for several reasons.

Welch never argued to the Court of Appeals that the

Court did not have *in rem* jurisdiction. At no point in the

proceedings did Brandon Welch appear or answer, argue lack of *in personam* jurisdiction or *in rem* jurisdiction, or offer any

argument. Brandon Welch did not appeal the Superior Court

decision and Keith Welch does not represent Brandon Welch.

Even if correct *arguendo* Keith Welch has no legal basis to

argue that lack of *in personam* jurisdiction on Brandon Welch

somehow defeats the *in rem* jurisdiction over the situs. Welch has not offered any legal authority in this petition for review or to the Court of Appeals to support that position. Welch simply implies in a number of his thirteen assignments of error that there was a lack of *in personam* jurisdiction over Brandon, who never answered the complaint, never appeared and never appealed, and that somehow defeats the case against Keith with regard to the *in rem* jurisdiction and Walden's right to a writ. Everything that Welch offers as authority relates to *in personam* jurisdiction or inaccurately claims lack of subject matter jurisdiction, which was never at issue to either the Superior Court or the Court of Appeals.

Next Welch assigns error to the Court of Appeals for believing that the amended summons and complaints were emailed to Counsel Day but the fact is that was never contested at all in the course of either the Superior Court case or the Appeal. The Court of Appeals could not possibly have erred on an uncontested point. Welch never presented any argument or evidence that the amended documents never made it to Counsel Day.

Welch's assigning error based on the failure to personally serve him and Brandon the amended summons and complaint fails first and foremost because under Cr5 there must be new or additional claims in the amended complaint to require personal service.

CR 5(a) Service--When Required. Except as otherwise provided in these rules, every order required by its terms to be served, every pleading subsequent to the original complaint unless the court otherwise orders because of numerous defendants, every paper relating to discovery required to be served upon a party unless the court otherwise orders, every written motion other than one which may be heard ex parte, and every written notice, appearance, demand, offer of judgment, designation of record on appeal, and similar paper shall be served upon each of the parties. No service need be made on parties in default for failure to appear except that pleadings asserting new or additional claims for relief against them shall be served upon them in the manner provided for service of summons in rule 4. (emphasis added).

In this case there is absolutely no new claims in the second amended complaint (Cp 17 and 18) that were not pled in the original summons and complaint (Cp 1 and 2). In fact there are fewer claims in the amended complaint. In both cases the prayer is for a writ of restitution under RCW 59.12.

Welch relies on Cr 5 and Cr 15 without acknowledging that both rules allow for the agreement of the parties to forego a court order and original service respectively.

CR 5...(7) Service by Other Means. Service under this rule may be made by delivering a copy by any other means, including facsimile, or electronic means consented to in writing by the person served or as authorized under local court rule. Service by facsimile or electronic means is complete on transmission when made prior to 5:00 p.m. on a judicial day. Service made on a Saturday, Sunday, holiday, or after 5:00 p.m. on any other day shall be deemed complete at 9:00 a.m. on the first judicial day thereafter. Service by other consented means is complete when the person making service delivers the copy to the agency designated to make delivery. Service under this subsection is not effective if the party making service learns that the attempted service did not reach the person to be served. (emphasis added)

In the present case it was attorney for Welch, counsel David
Day that put on the court record that the attorneys had agreed to
amended summons and complaint and then the email from
attorney for Walden, Counsel Rob Trickler memorialized that
in an email without objection by Day at any point in these
proceedings (verbatim report of proceedings of hearing on 0709-2021).

CR 15(a) Amendments. A party may amend the party's pleading once as a matter of course at any time before a responsive pleading is served, or, if the pleading is one to which no responsive pleading is permitted and the action has not been placed upon the trial calendar, the party may

so amend it at any time within 20 days after it is served. Otherwise, a party may amend the party's pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires. If a party moves to amend a pleading, a copy of the proposed amended pleading, denominated "proposed" and unsigned, shall be attached to the motion. If a motion to amend is granted, the moving party shall thereafter file the amended pleading and, pursuant to rule 5, serve a copy thereof on all other parties. A party shall plead in response to an amended pleading within the time remaining for response to the original pleading or within 10 days after service of the amended pleading, whichever period may be the longer, unless the court otherwise orders. (emphasis added)

Again, in the present case it was attorney for Welch, counsel David Day that put on the court record that the attorneys had agreed to amended summons and complaint and then the email from attorney for Walden, Counsel Rob Trickler memorialized that in an email without objection by Day at any point in these proceedings (verbatim report of proceedings of hearing on 07-09-2021).

Also, Cr 1 requires that the rules be construed and administered to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.

CR 1 These rules govern the procedure in the superior court in all suits of a civil nature whether cognizable as cases at law or in equity with the exceptions stated in rule 81. They shall be construed and administered to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.

Finally, also that Cr 2A allows for the parties to deviate from the requirement of the rules not only in writing but also by assenting to the same in open court as was done here as Welch points out on page 8 of his petition by citing to the verbatim report of proceedings of hearing on 07-09-2021.

CR 2A No agreement or consent between parties or attorneys in respect to the proceedings in a cause, the purport of which is disputed, will be regarded by the court unless the same shall have been made and assented to in open court on the record, or entered in the minutes, or unless the evidence thereof shall be in writing and subscribed by the attorneys denying the same. (emphasis added)

As noted, this was stated in open court by Counsel for Walch, and memorialized in writing after that by Counsel for Walden, and never disputed.

None of the case law that Welch relies on precludes the attorney of record from agreeing to allow and accept service of an amended complaint that did not add any new claims from the predecessor complaint, but only corrected the facts that led to the prayer for relief, especially when the jurisdiction is *in rem* and not *in personam* and arguably does not involve giving up rights of the represented in that regard and when one of the

Defendants made no notice of appearance or answer to the first complaint containing the all of the relief requested in the subsequent complaint. The Court of Appeals was correct in stating that the amended complaint related directly to the issues that were to be litigated at the show cause hearing to which Day had put in the notice of appearance for.

Cr 70.1...(b) Notice of Limited Appearance. If specifically so stated in a notice of limited appearance filed and served prior to or simultaneously with the proceeding, an attorney's role may be limited to one or more individual proceedings in the action. Service on an attorney who has made a limited appearance for a party shall be valid (to the extent permitted by statute and Rule 5(b)) only in connection with the specific proceedings for which the attorney has appeared, including any hearing or trial at which the attorney appeared and any subsequent motions for presentation of orders. At the conclusion of such proceedings the attorney's role terminates without the necessity of leave of court, upon the attorney filing notice of completion of limited appearance which notice shall include the client information required by Rule 71 (c)(1). (emphasis added).

Nor does RCW 59.12.040 matter as that relates to service of notices not a summons and complaint. Welch talks a great deal about service pursuant to RCW 59.12.040 relating to the service of the amended summons and complaint but that statute is only relevant to service of notices under RCW 59.12.030.

Finally, the arguments Welch attempts with respect to the position that Walden had to prove the validity of the trustee sale are not just wrong but also estopped. Welch made that argument in Skagit County Superior Court 21-2-00112-29 and lost it. Welch then made the same argument to the Court of Appeals in case number 83427-4 and lost again. Finally, Welch took the same argument to the U.S. District Court, Western District of Washington at Seattle, which case was dismissed with prejudice due to Welch's "inability to plead any set of facts which would entitle him to relief", Welch v. US Bank Nat'l Ass'n, No. C19-2083 MJP, 2020 U.S. Dist. (W.D. Wash. May 4, 2020)). Bottom line is that Welch does not get an infinite number of bites at the apple of this argument and this argument has long sense been barred.

CONCLUSION

The Respondent Walden respectfully requests this

Honorable Court deny Welch's Petition for Review or affirm

the Court of Appeal's opinion upholding the Superior Court's

08/30/2021 decision ordering the issuance and execution of the Writ of Restitution restoring the possession of the situs to the Petitioner Walden.